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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

LEE BLANCHARD, Individually and On
Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated,
Plaintiff,
v.
WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. and WELLS
FARGO & COMPANY,
Defendants.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Docket Number:

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff Lee Blanchard (“Plaintiff”), individually and behalf of all others similarly situated,
brings this class action against Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and Wells Fargo & Company (collectively
“Defendants”, “Wells Fargo,” or the “Company”) for engaging in a company-wide fraudulent
scheme to open deposit accounts, credit card accounts, and other banking products and services in
customers’ names without the customers’ knowledge, consent, or approval.
INTRODUCTION
1.

Defendants have admitted to engaging in illegal sales tactics to maintain high levels

of sales of its banking and financial products. This business model employed by Defendants is
founded on selling customers products that Defendants calls “solutions.”
2.

In order to achieve its goal of selling a high number of “solutions”, Defendants

imposed a sales quota on employees, and adopted policies that drove its employees to engage in
unlawful acts to meet those unachievable goals, including, but not limited to, opening customer
accounts, and issuing credit cards, without customer authorization.
3.

Defendants have known about and encouraged these unlawful practices for many

years. Defendants victimized Wells Fargo customers by failing to inform them of the illegal
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actions surreptiously taken in their names, refund fees they were owed, or otherwise remedy the
injuries that Defendants caused.
4.

In fact, the Company’s executives directed lower-level employees to create as

many new accounts for Wells Fargo customers as they could. As a result of Defendants’ policy,
the Company has opened over a million accounts without the consent of Wells Fargo customers.
5.

As a direct consequence of its illegal conduct, Defendants agreed to pay

approximately $190 million in fines to the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB”), the
Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, and the City and County of Los Angeles.
Unfortunately, only $5 million of this $190 million is supposed to be allocated to injured
consumers, such as Plaintiff and the Class (defined below), and the only Wells Fargo consumers
who may have the possibility to recover from this fund are those with narrowly defined economic
harms.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
6.

The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over all the claims pursuant to the Class

Action Fairness Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d), because there are more than 100 Class members, many
of whom are citizens of states other than the states in which Defendants are domiciled, and
because the aggregate amount in controversy significantly exceeds $5 million.
7.

This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because they have sufficient

minimum contacts in New Jersey to render the exercise of jurisdiction by this Court proper.
Defendants intentionally avail themselves of markets within New Jersey through the promotion,
sale, marketing, and distribution of banking products and services in New Jersey. A substantial
portion of the wrongdoing alleged herein occurred in New Jersey.
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8.

Venue is proper in the District of New Jersey pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2)

because a substantial portion of the illegal acts giving rise to this action occurred in this District.
Wells Fargo has multiple bank locations in the District of New Jersey.
PARTIES
Plaintiff
9.

Plaintiff Blanchard is, and at all times relevant hereto has been, an individual and a

resident of Egg Harbor City, New Jersey.
Defendants
10.

Defendant Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (“Wells Fargo Bank”) is a national banking

association chartered under the laws of the United States, with its primary place of business in
Sioux Falls, South Dakota. Wells Fargo Bank provides Wells Fargo & Company’s personal and
commercial banking services, and is Wells Fargo & Company’s principal subsidiary.
11.

Defendant Wells Fargo & Company (“Wells Fargo & Co.”) is a Delaware

corporation with its principal place of business in San Francisco, California. Wells Fargo & Co.
provides banking, insurance, investment, mortgage, and financial products and services
throughout the country.
FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS
12.

Plaintiff Blanchard is and has been a Wells Fargo customer since 2005. Since

opening a personal bank account with Wells Fargo, Blanchard learned that a new unauthorized
account was opened by Defendants, causing overdrafts and the generation of unauthorized fees
and penalties imposed by Wells Fargo and taken by it from his banking accounts with them.
13.

Defendants’ stated goal is to get each customer to maintain numerous accounts

with Wells Fargo. For example, a brochure published entitled The Vision & Values: of Wells
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Fargo, Wells Fargo states: “Going for gr-eight,’ Our average retail banking household has about
six products with us. We want to get to eight . . . and beyond. One of every four already has eight
or more. Four of every 10 have six or more.”
14.

In the Company’s 2014 Annual Report to the U.S. Securities and Exchange

Commission (the “SEC”), Defendants boasts about their “products” per customer and their “crosssell strategy.”
Our vision is to satisfy all our customers’ financial needs, help them
succeed financially, be recognized as the premier financial services
company in our markets and be one of America’s great companies.
Important to our strategy to achieve this vision is to increase the
number of our products our customers use and to offer them all of the
financial products that fulfill their financial needs.
15.

The Company’s 2014 Annual Report further stated in relevant part:
Our cross-sell strategy is to increase the number of products our
customers use by offering them all of the financial products that
satisfy their financial needs.
*

*

*

[W]e continued to maintain our solid customer relationships across
the Company, with retail banking household cross-sell of 6.17
products per household (November 2014); Wholesale Banking crosssell of 7.2 products per relationship (September 2014); and Wealth,
Brokerage and Retirement cross-sell of 10.49 products per retail
banking household (November 2014).
*

*

*

We believe there is more opportunity for cross-sell as we continue to
earn more business from our customers. Our goal is eight products
per household.
16.

In order to achieve the Company’s goal of eight (8) accounts per household,

Defendants imposed extreme and unrealistic pressure on its employees to open numerous
accounts per customer.

4

Case 1:16-cv-07509 Document 1 Filed 10/19/16 Page 5 of 20 PageID: 5

17.

Defendants had strict quotas regulating the number of daily “solutions” that

Company employees must reach. These “solutions” include the opening of new banking and
credit card accounts. The Company employees who could not reach their quotas were threatened
with termination.
18.

The quotas imposed by Defendants were not attainable because there were not

enough customers entering each branch on a daily basis for bankers to meet their quotas through
traditional means.
19.

As a result, the Company’s employees resorted to alternative means to meet

quotas, including using high pressure sales tactics to pressure customers into opening additional
accounts and/or providing inaccurate or misleading information about potential accounts to
pressure customers to open them.
20.

The Company’s employees also engaged in certain tactics to increase their

“solutions” to meet minimum quotas. These practices were so pervasive within the Company’s
business model that some methods of gaming have been given their own names:
(a)

“Sandbagging” refers to the Company’s practice of failing to open

accounts when requested by customers, and instead accumulating a number of account
applications to be opened at a later date.

For example, upon information and belief, the

Company’s employees would collect manual applications for various products, store them in an
unsecured fashion, and belatedly open up the accounts in the next sales reporting period,
frequently before or after banking hours, or on bank holidays such as New Year’s Day.
(b)

“Pinning” refers to the Company’s practice of assigning (without customer

permission) Personal Identification Numbers (“PINs”) to customer ATM card numbers with the
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intention of, among other things, impersonating customers on the Company computers, and
enrolling those customers in online banking and online bill-pay without the customers’ consent.
(c)

“Bundling” refers to the Company’s practice of incorrectly informing

customers that certain products are available only in packages with other products such as
additional accounts, insurance, annuities, and retirement plans.
21.

In testimony before the Senate Banking Committee on September 20, 2016, the

Director of the CFPB testified that an investigation of Wells Fargo’s practices:
[F]ound that, in order to meet sales goals and collect financial
bonuses for themselves, employees of the bank created unauthorized
deposit and credit card accounts, enrolled consumers in online
banking services, and ordered debit cards for consumers, all without
their consent or even their knowledge. Some of these practices
involved fake email accounts and phony PIN numbers.
22.

The CFPB investigation reported that the Company’s “fraudulent conduct

occurred on a massive scale.”
23.

The CFPB also determined:
Wells Fargo opened 1,534,280 deposit accounts that may not have
been authorized, including transferring funds from some customer
accounts without their knowledge or consent. Wells Fargo also
initiated applications for 565,443 credit card accounts that may not
have been authorized, by using consumers’ information without their
knowledge or consent.

24.

The CFPB concluded that Wells Fargo’s practices “represent a staggering breach

of trust.”
25.

The CFPB’s investigation revealed that Defendants operated the largest identity

theft organization in history, involving over 5,000 employees.
26.

While Defendants has recently terminated over 5,300 employees who engaged in

the practices described above, they rewarded individuals such as Ms. Carrie Tolstedt, who was the
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Company’s executive overseeing much of this behavior, and who was referred to as the “chief
sandbagger,” with a termination payment of more than $124 million.
27.

Despite blaming low-level employees and terminating approximately 5,300 of

them, the CFPB concluded that:
The gravity and breadth of the fraud that occurred at Wells Fargo
cannot be pushed aside as the stray misconduct of just a few bad
apples.
*

*

*

Wells Fargo, [not its low-level employees], built and sustained a
program where the bank and many of its employees served
themselves instead, violating the basic ethics of a banking institution.
*

*

*

Wells Fargo, [not just its low-level employees], engaged in abusive
conduct toward its customers and consumers.
28.

Upon information and belief, Ms. Carrie Tolstedt was the Company executive in

charge of the unit in which employees opened more than 2 million unauthorized customer
accounts.
29.

While acting as a Company executive, and while engaging in fraudulent practices,

Ms. Tolstedt pushed “strong cross-selling ratios.” Indeed, the Company singled out Ms. Tolstedt
(and other executives) touting the Company’s “expertise” in selling multiple products.
30.

Even after determining that the problems existed for many years, the Company

took no action to terminate the unlawful activities. In fact, the Company continued to promote
and monetarily reward individuals who stole customer identities, opened fraudulent accounts,
fabricated false emails and PIN numbers, and intentionally sold customers bundled accounts they
did not need or desire.
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31.

Media outlets reported that Company employees opened over 1.5 million deposit

accounts that may not have been authorized and that may have been funded through simulated
funding, or transferring funds from consumers’ existing accounts without their knowledge or
consent.
32.

The CFPB described the Company’s “fraudulent practices” as “outrageous and

abusive,” and perpetrated by the Company on “an enormous scale.”
33.

In testimony before the Senate Banking Committee, the Los Angeles City

Attorney testified that after conducting “numerous interviews with former Wells Fargo employees
and Wells Fargo consumers,” and “pour[ing] over public records, including voluminous court
records from wrongful termination lawsuits former employees filed against Wells Fargo” that the
Company had “victimized consumers by opening customer accounts, and issuing credit cards and
other products, without authorization.”
34.

The most accurate way to describe the Company’s practices is “identity theft” on a

massive. systemic, organized scale.
35.

Further, the Los Angeles City Attorney’s investigation also determined that the

Company “failed to notify customers that these accounts had been opened without their consent,”
and “made it difficult, if not impossible, for customers to receive accurate and clear information”
regarding the fraudulent and unauthorized “opening of fee-generating customer accounts,” and the
addition of “unwanted secondary accounts and products, without customer permission.” The Los
Angeles City Attorney’s investigation determined that many Company customers “were told that
the unauthorized accounts would be closed, only to find later that they were not.”
36.

The Los Angeles City Attorney’s investigation also “found a fundamental breach

of trust by the Bank [Wells Fargo] through its misuse of consumers’ personal information.”
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Among other things, the City Attorney found that the Company’s customers’ “personal and
private information had been accessed by Wells Fargo in order to open unauthorized accounts.”
37.

The Los Angeles City Attorney’s investigation also determined that the

Company’s customers had “money withdrawn from their authorized accounts to pay fees assessed
by Wells Fargo on unauthorized accounts.”
38.

The Los Angeles City Attorney’s investigation also determined that the

Company’s customers’ “unauthorized accounts were sent to debt collection agencies, and
derogatory notes were placed on their credit reports.”
39.

In addition, the Company’s acts of opening unauthorized deposit accounts and

engaging in simulated funding took advantage of consumers’ inability to protect their interests in
selecting or using consumer financial products or services, including interests in having an
account opened only after affirmative agreement, protecting themselves from security and other
risks, and avoiding associated fees.
40.

Upon information and belief, the Company’s analysis concluded that its

employees submitted applications for 565,443 credit-card accounts that may not have been
authorized by using consumers’ information without their knowledge or consent. That analysis
determined that roughly 14,000 of those accounts generated $403,145 in fees to Wells Fargo.
Fees incurred by consumers on such accounts included annual fees and overdraft-protection fees,
as well as associated finance or interest charges and other late fees.
41.

By applying for and opening credit-card accounts using consumers’ information

without their knowledge, authorization or consent, the Company caused injury that was not
reasonably avoidable, because it occurred without consumers’ knowledge, and was not
outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or competition.
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42.

In addition, the Company’s acts of opening credit-card accounts using consumers’

information without their knowledge or consent took unreasonable advantage of the consumers’
inability to protect their interests in selecting or using a consumer financial product or service.
43.

During the Class Period, the Company’s employees also used email addresses not

belonging to consumers to enroll consumers in online-banking services without their knowledge,
authorization, or consent.
44.

The Company’s acts of enrolling consumers in online-banking services without

their knowledge, authorization, or consent took unreasonable advantage of consumers’ inability to
protect their interests in selecting or using a consumer financial product or service, including
interests in having these products or services activated only after affirmative agreement and
authorization, and protecting themselves from security and other risks and unwarranted fees and
penalties.
45.

During the Class Period, the Company’s employees requested debit cards and

created PINs to activate them without consumers’ knowledge, authorization or consent.
46.

The Company has strict quotas regulating the number of daily “solutions” that its

bankers must reach. These “solutions” include the opening of all new banking and credit card
accounts. Upon information and belief, the Company managers would often tell Company
employees to do whatever it takes to reach their quotas.
47.

The Company employees who do not reach their quotas are often threatened with

termination.
48.

Further, the Company customers who complained about receiving credit cards

they did not request were advised by the Company to destroy the unrequested and unauthorized
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cards. However; destroying the unauthorized cards does not close the account nor repair the
impact to a customer’s credit profile.
49.

In the practice known as “pinning,” a Company banker would obtain a debit card

number, and personally set the PIN, often to 0000, without customer authorization.
50.

“Pinning” enabled a Company banker to enroll a customer in online banking, for

which the banker would receive a solution (sales credit). To bypass computer prompts requiring
customer contact information, bankers impersonate the customer online, and input false generic
email

addresses

such

as

1234@wellsfargo.com,

noname@wellsfargo.com,

or

none@wellsfargo.com to ensure that the transaction is completed and that the customer remains
unaware of the unauthorized activity.
51.

Despite the Company’s knowledge of gaming by its employees, it has done little,

if anything, to terminate these practices, nor to reform the business model it created.
52.

The Los Angeles City Attorney’s investigation into the Company’s practices

complained of above found that:
There is a sacred trust that consumers put in their financial
institutions – a faith that their hard-earned money will be safe and
secure, and that their banks’ actions will be in the best interests of
customers like themselves. Wells Fargo broke that trust. We should
all work to assure it never happens again.
53.

On August 18, 2016, in a CNNMoney article entitled Letter warned Wells Fargo of

widespread fraud in 2007, CNNMoney reported that it had obtained a 2007 letter addressed to
Stumpf that warned of widespread “unethical (and illegal) activity” inside Wells Fargo and the
“routine deception and fraudulent exploitation of our clients.” The CNNMoney article stated:
The letter was written by a Wells Fargo (WFC) employee, who had
been transferred from the branch after raising sales concerns, and
who later won a federal whistleblower retaliation case against the
company.
11
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Eerily, the letter [attached hereto as Exhibit A] seemed to predict the
scandal Wells Fargo is dealing with today.
“Left unchecked, the inevitable outcome shall be one of professional
and reputational damage, consumer fraud and shareholder lawsuits,
coupled with regulator sanctions,” the letter warned.
It said the illegal activity in Northern California was “widespread and
so highly encouraged that it has become a normal sales practice.”
The employee copied Stumpf on a second letter [attached hereto as
Exhibit B] addressed to the audit and examination committee of
Wells Fargo’s board of directors.
That letter to the board made similar warnings of “illegal and
unethical activity and fraud,” adding that the “activities remain
ongoing to this day.”
CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
54.

Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of himself and on behalf of all other persons

similarly situated (the “Class” or “Class Members”) against Defendants. The Class is defined as:
All Wells Fargo customers in the United States who, within the
applicable statute of limitations preceding the filing of this action to
the date of class certification, had unauthorized bank accounts,
credit-card accounts, or other banking “solutions” opened in their
names.
55.

Plaintiff reserves the right to modify or amend the definition of the Class before

the Court determines whether certification is appropriate.
56.

Excluded from the Class are Wells Fargo, its parents, subsidiaries, affiliates,

officers and directors, employees and any entity in which Wells Fargo has a controlling interest,
all customers who make a timely election to be excluded, governmental entities, and all judges
assigned to hear any aspect of this litigation, as well as their immediate family members.
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57.

The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder is impractical. The Class

consists of at least hundreds of thousands of members, whose identity is within the knowledge of
the Company and can be readily ascertained from the Company’s books and records.
58.

There are many questions of law and fact common to the Class, and these common

questions predominate over any questions affecting only individual Class members.
59.

The common questions of law and fact are whether the Company: (a) created

unauthorized bank accounts, credit-card accounts and other banking “solutions” in its customers’
names; (b) failed to obtain affirmative consent from its customers before creating accounts in their
names; (c) failed to notify consumers that unauthorized accounts had been opened in their names
and whether these accounts would generate fees; (d) failed to provide its customers with a fair
opportunity to close unauthorized accounts; (e) assessed illegal overdraft fees due to the creation
of unauthorized accounts; (f) was unjustly enriched through its wrongful policies and practices;
(g) violated the Electronic Fund Transfer Act; (h) engaged in unlawful, unfair, and/or fraudulent
business practices in violation of the New Jersey Consumer Fraud Act (“N.J.S.A.”) 56:8-1 et seq.;
and (i) converted monies belonging to Plaintiff and Class members.
60.

Defendants have acted or refused to act on grounds that apply generally to the

Class, as alleged above.
61.

The claims of the representative Plaintiff are typical of the claims of the Class in

that the representative Plaintiff, like all Class members, was subjected to unauthorized account
creation by the Company as a result of its practice of creating unauthorized accounts in its
customers’ names. The claims of Plaintiff and all Class members arise from the same wrongful
account-creation policies and practices of the Company. The factual basis of the Company’s
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violations is common to all Class members, and represents a common thread of wrongful conduct
that harmed all Class members.
62.

Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class. Plaintiff has

no interests antagonistic to the interests of any other Class member.
63.

Plaintiff is committed to the vigorous pursuit of this action and has retained

competent counsel experienced in the prosecution of class actions and consumer protection class
actions.
64.

A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient

adjudication of this controversy. Because the amount of each individual Class member’s claim is
small relative to the complexity of the litigation, and because of the Company’s financial
resources, no Class member could afford to pursue legal redress individually for the violations
detailed herein.
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
(Violations of the Electronic Fund Transfer Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1693, et seq. (“EFTA”))
65.

Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference, as though fully set forth herein,

all previous paragraphs of this Complaint.
66.

The Company’s actions as set forth herein violate the Electronic Fund Transfer

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1693, et seq. (“EFTA”).
67.

The EFTA aims “to provide a basic framework establishing the rights, liabilities,

and responsibilities of participants in electronic fund . . . systems.” 15 U.S.C. § 1693(b). “The
primary objective of [the EFTA] is the provision of individual consumer rights.” Id.
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68.

Plaintiff and the Class are “consumers” within section 1693a(6), and the Company

is a “financial institution” because it is a “person who, directly or indirectly, holds an account
belonging to a consumer.” 15 U.S.C. § 1693a(9).
69.

Activity on the accounts of Plaintiff and the Class — including unauthorized fund

transfers from their accounts — constitute “electronic fund transfer[s]” under the EFTA. 15
U.S.C. § 1693a(7).
70.

The EFTA prohibits a financial institution from issuing a consumer “any card,

code, or other means of access to such consumer’s account for the purpose of initiating an
electronic fund transfer,” except where a consumer has requested or applied for the card or other
means of access, or where the card or other means of access is provided “as a renewal of, or in
substitution for, an accepted card.” 15 U.S.C. §§ 1693i(a)(1), (2).
71.

The Company violated section 1693(i)(a) of the EFTA when, without Plaintiff’s

and the Class’ request or application, the Company created means of access to accounts for the
purpose of initiating electronic fund transfers.
72.

Plaintiff and the Class received cards, credit lines, and accounts they never

requested. Such cards, credit lines, and accounts were not renewals or substitutes for accepted
cards.
73.

Pursuant to section 1693(m) of the EFTA, Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to

relief, including: (a) actual damages; (b) the lesser of $500,000 or 1 percent of the Company’s net
worth; (c) damages proximately caused by the Company’s EFTA violations; (d) reasonable
attorneys’ fees and costs; and (e) such other relief as the Court may deem appropriate.
SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
(Violations of the New Jersey Consumer Fraud Act (“N.J.S.A.”) 56:8-1, et seq.)
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74.

Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference, as though fully set forth herein,

all previous paragraphs of this Complaint.
75.

Defendants are “persons” within the meaning of N.J.S.A. 56:8-2 and NJ.S.A. 56:8-

76.

The actions of Defendants, as alleged herein, constituted sharp, deceptive,

1(d).

misleading and unconscionable commercial practice in relation to the sale of services within the
meaning of NJ.S.A. 56:8-2.
77.

Plaintiff and the Class each suffered an ascertainable loss of money and property

as a result of Defendants’ use of the unconscionable business practice and material omission
described herein.

Defendants engaged in a company-wide fraudulent scheme to open deposit

accounts, credit card accounts, and other banking products and services in customers’ names
without the customers’ knowledge, consent, or approval.
78.

The Company’s customers have been prejudiced in numerous ways by Wells

Fargo’s gaming. For example: (a) customers lose money paying monthly service fees charged for
unauthorized accounts; (b) customer accounts are placed into collection, forcing customers to
fight with debt collection agencies for fees charged by Wells Fargo on unauthorized accounts; (c)
pulling of customers’ credit reports impact their credit scores, job applications, loans and
mortgage applications; and (d) customers are forced to purchase costly identity theft protection
services to ensure against further fraudulent identity theft activities. But for Wells Fargo’s
actions, including their quota-based business model, Plaintiff and the Class would not have
incurred wrongful fees, been put into collections, suffered derogatory references on their credit
reports and/or reduction of their credit scores, or been forced to purchase identity theft protection.
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79.

This ascertainable loss was caused by Defendants’ fraudulent actions alleged

herein.
THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
(Conversion On Behalf of the Class)
80.

Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference, as though fully set forth herein,

all previous paragraphs of this Complaint.
81.

Plaintiff and Class members deposited money into and/or held funds in their Wells

Fargo accounts. Plaintiff and Class members owned, possessed, and had a right to control the
funds in their Wells Fargo accounts.
82.

Wells Fargo owed, and continues to owe, a duty to maintain and preserve its

customers’ checking, savings, and other account funds to prevent their diminishment through its
own wrongful acts that were not part of any contractual agreement between Plaintiff and the Class
on the one hand and Wells Fargo on the other hand.
83.

Wells Fargo has wrongfully collected penalty fees, and other fees associated with

unwanted and/or unauthorized accounts, from Plaintiff and Class members. Wells Fargo has
taken specific and readily identifiable funds from the accounts of Plaintiff and Class members in
payment of these fees.
84.

Wells Fargo’s unlawful and unauthorized fee collection, caused directly by the

unauthorized accounts created by Wells Fargo, interfered with the rights of Plaintiff and Class
members to the monies in their bank accounts. Wells Fargo’s unlawful and unauthorized fee
collection prevented Plaintiff and Class members from using the monies in their bank accounts in
the manner they desired.
85.

Wells Fargo, without proper authorization or justification, assumed and exercised

the right of ownership of these funds, in hostility to the rights of Plaintiff and Class members.
17
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86.

Wells Fargo continues to retain these funds unlawfully without Plaintiff’s and

Class members’ consent.
87.

Wells Fargo’s wrongful exercise of control over the personal property of Plaintiff

and Class members constitutes conversion.
88.

By reason of the foregoing, Plaintiff and Class members are entitled to recover

from Wells Fargo all damages and costs permitted by law, including all amounts Wells Fargo has
wrongfully converted.
FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Unjust Enrichment On Behalf of the Class)
89.

Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference, as though fully set forth herein,

all previous paragraphs of this Complaint.
90.

By its conduct detailed above, the Company acted unconscionably toward and

wrongfully obtained funds from Plaintiff and the Class. The Company acted with conscious
disregard for the rights and interests of Plaintiff and the Class.
91.

The Company’s unconscionable and wrongful conduct caused the Company to be

enriched at the direct expense of Plaintiff and the Class.
92.

It is inequitable for the Company to be permitted to retain the financial benefits it

received, and may still be receiving, from Plaintiff and the Class due to penalty fees, overdraft
fees, and other fees that stem from accounts the Company opened for customers without their
prior consent, and/or through deceit, concealment, trickery, or other improper means.

The

Company’s retention of such funds constitutes unjust enrichment.
93.

The Company’s unjust enrichment is traceable to, and resulted directly and

proximately from, the conduct alleged herein.
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94.

The Company’s ill-gotten gain rightfully belongs to Plaintiff and the Class. The

Company should be ordered to make restitution or to disgorge the wrongfully obtained funds.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the Class he seeks to represent,
requests entry of judgment as follows:
A.

Injunctive relief to prohibit the Company from opening accounts in its

customers’ names without their prior informed consent;
B.

Restitution of all fees paid to the Company by Plaintiff and the Class as a

result of the wrongs alleged herein;
C.

Disgorgement of the ill-gotten gains the Company derived from its

misconduct;
D.

Actual damages in an amount according to proof;

E.

Treble damages under N.J.S.A.;

E.

Punitive and exemplary damages;

F.

Pre-judgment interest at the maximum rate permitted by law;

G.

Reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs as provided for under applicable law;

H.

Such other relief as this Court deems just and proper.

and
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
Plaintiff hereby demands a jury trial on all issues so triable.
Dated: October 19, 2016
GAINEY McKENNA & EGLESTON

By: /s/ Barry J. Gainey
Barry J. Gainey (BG7560)
95 Route 17 South, Suite 310
Paramus, NJ 07652
Telephone: (201) 225-9001
Facsimile: (201) 225-9002
Email: bgainey@gme-law.com
-andThomas J. McKenna
Gregory M. Egleston
440 Park Avenue South, 5th Floor
New York, NY 10016
Tel: (212) 983-1300
Fax: (212) 983-0383
tjmckenna@gme-law.com
gegleston@gme-law.com
Attorneys for Plaintiff
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